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1. INTRODUCTION

Google Inc. ("Google") moves to dismiss the Amended Complaint in its entirety.

Pursuant to the Court's Summary Judgment Order of March 7, 2007 ("the Order"), the only

| remaining claim is the issue of "direct infringement." Google cannot, as a matter of léw, directly
infringe the patent-in-suit (the "229 patent") by its distribution of Google Earth. An entity
directly infringes a method claim only Wheﬁ it practices every step ‘of the method. The sale or
distribution of software cannot, as a matter of law, directly infringe claim 12 (the only asserted
claim against Google) of the '229 patent. At best, the distribution could only give rise to a claim
for contributory infringement, but th¢ Court has already held that Google has not contributorily
infringed the claim {(because, among other things, there are substantiél noninfringing uses for the
software).

In addition to dismissal of the Amended Complaint, the Court should also award Geogle

its attomeys’ fees and costs under Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or 35 U.S.C.
§ 285. As reflected in Google's earlier motion for summary judgment, there is no legal or factual
basis for plaintiff's claims. At the hearing on the.original motion, the Court noted that it was
"strongly inclined"” to award such fees. Hearing Transcript at 71. In the Court's order, however,

it reserved the issue in light of the outstanding claim for direct infringement. Order at 19. After
the Court's order, Google again tried to convince pléintiff to abandon its claim and dismiss the
case (even without costs or fees to either party). Plaintiff refused, contending the Court erred,
and that there was a basis for its claim of direct infringement. In the hope of avoiding having to
raise this issue again with the Court, the parties agreed to a neutral evaluation by a
knowledgéabie patent attorney. That patent attorney concluded just what Google has previously
asserted—that plaintiff cannot prevail on its direct infringement claim for at least ﬁVo reasons— |

distribution of software cannot directly infringe a method claim and the patent requires use of a
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scrolling mouse or some equivalent hardware. The evaluator also indicated there was no
discovery necessary on the issue.

Nevertheless, plaintiff refused to -dismiss the claim and has now moved to compel Google
to produce witnesses for deposition. Plaintiff's continued harassment, without any legal basis,
must end. The Court should dismiss the case in its entirety, either through reconsideration of its

original order or by treating this paper and the papers previously on file as a new summary

* judgment motion. The Court should also award Google its attorneys' fees and costs. Plaintiff

and its counsel have had numerous and repeated opportunities to avoid such sanctions, but have
continued to pursue their baseless claim. |
This motion is based upon the pleadings, papers and orders already on file, including

Google's prior Statement of Undisputed Facts. This request and motion is further supported by
the Declaration of Ramsey M. Al-Salam filed herewith. Mr. Al-Salam certifies thé.t Goog,ie has
made repeated and numerous attempts to resolve this case without having to bring it back to the
attention of the Court. Plaintiff and its counsel have simply refused to following the Court's |
direction in its earlier order.

IT. THE COURT SHOULD RECONSIDER ITS ORDER DENYING
THE MOTION ON DIRECT INFRINGEMENT

- A.  Plaintiff Never Pled Direct Infringement

Google seeks dismissal of this case, whether through reconsideration of the Court
summary judgment order or through an independent grant of summary judgment on the issue of
direct inﬁingement. Reconsideration of the Court's original order may be the simpler course
because, among other things, it can be based on the prior submissions by the parties, including

defendant's failure to comply with Rule 56(f) in its request for discovery.
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_ In response to the original motion, the Court.held there were no genuine issues of fact
with respect to F&G's claims for contributory infringement or inducement of infringement, the
only two theories specifically articulated in any prior court papers. The Court did not dismiss the
Amended Complaint in its entirety, howevér, holding that Google had failed to address the
theory of direct infringement until its_ reply memorandum:

Google did not move for summary judgment on a claim for direct
patent infringement, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), upon the
belief that F&G had not included such a claim in its Amended
Complaint. When informed by F&G in its opposition papers that
a direct infringement claim was stated, although the statute was
never referenced in the Amended Complaint, Google responded
with arguments in its Reply Memorandum as to why summary
judgment is also appropriate if the pleading is read to state a claim
for direct infringement. It is not proper to raise new arguments in a
reply brief, however, and the Court will not consider them here.
‘See Patteé v. Georgia Ports Auth., F. Supp. 2d
(2007) WL 777887, at *2 (S.D. Ga. 2007} (noting that '[m]any
district courts in the Eleventh Circuit reject new arguments raised
in reply briefs'). S

Summary Judgment Order at 2 n.1.

Google respectfully submits that the Court erred in fhis regard for two reasons. First, the
First Amended Complaint does not state a claim for direct infringement. The Complaint makes
the general assertion that Google has infringed, but then "specifically” explains the basis for the
claim as follows:

11.  Specifically, Defendant Google has provided . . .
software compatible with the scrolling mouse of the 229 patent;
specifically for use as part of the method covered by the 229
patent. Such sofiware constitutes a material part of the invention
covered by the 229 patent and is not a staple article or commodity
of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use and
therefore, the use of the software in conjunction with the scrolling
mouse, constitutes an infringement of the 229 patent under 35
U.S.C. § 271(c).

41063-0039/LEGAL13281763.1 -3-



Case 0:06-cv-60905-CMA  Document 77  Entered on FLSD Docket 06/07/2007 Page 6 of 12

12.  Defendant Google, through its provision of the
software induces infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) by a user
of the mouse and software combination.

Amended Complaint, 1 11-12.

The theory of contributory infringement is expressly reiterated in the parties’ Joint
Discovery Plan and Scheduling Report (Docket Entry No. 26) and Plaintiff's Reply to
Counterclaim (Docket Entry No. 23). Plaintiff never pled on any theory of direct infringement in
the Amended Complaint or any other pleading. Because F&G did not plead direct infringement
in the Amended Complaint, it should not be allowed to raise it for the first time in opposition fo 2
summary judgment motion. Seef e.g., In re Andrx Corp., 296 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1367 (S.D. Fla.
2003) ("The [Court] will not entertain Plaintiffs' new theory raiséd for the first time in response
to Defendants' motion for summary judgment as it is not properly before the Court.") (granting
summary judgment in securities fraud claim). |

B. The Summary Judgment Motion Encompassed 4Any Claim of Infringement

Second, even if the Amended Complaint states a claim for direct infringement under 35
U.S.C. § 271(a), Google's motion was not limited to any specific theory of infringement. Google
did not file a motion for partial summary judgment, or in any other manner limit the scope of its
motion. Indeed, Google's motion expressly requested that the Court "grant summary judgment to
Google and dismiss the Amended Compleiint with prejudice." Motion at 16. Although Google
focused its argument on contributory infringement, because it understood that to be the basis for
plaintiff's claim, thé scope of the motion was never limited:

When a defendant in a patent infringement action seeks summary judgment of
noninﬁ'ingement, the patentee has the burden of coming forth with evidence to create a genuine
issue of material fact. In Exigent Tech., Inc. v. Atrana Solutions, Inc., 442 F.3d 1301 (F_éd. Cir.

2006), for example, the Federal Circuit affirmed the district court's grant of summary judgment
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of noninfringement. The defendant's motion was a 12-page motion, supported by a declaration,
arguing that the plaintiff would not be able to establish infringement and referring to "certain
claim limitations" that were not contained in any of defendant's products. 442 F.3d at 1304.
Affirming the grant of summary judgment, the Federal Circuit, applying Eleventh Circuit law,
held that because plaintiff had the burden of proving infringement, the defendant "did not have to
support its motion with evidence of non-infringement.” 442 F.3d at 1308. The court noted that
it is the plaintiff's burden to come forth with evidence in response to a motion for summary
judgment of noninfringement:

In light of Celotex [477 U.S. 3171, Wé conclude that nothing more

- is required than the filing of a summary judgment motion stating
that the patentee had no evidence of infringement and pointing to

the specific way in which accused systems did not meet the claim
limitations. ‘

442 F.3d at 1308-09 (footnote omitted). |

These standards were met in Google's motion for summary judgment. Google's motion
explained that the patent is "directed at a specific type of scrolling mouse," and that "Goo gl.e
does not sell computer mice." Google Motion at 1. The motion discusses in detail the patent
claims and why Google's distribution of Google Earth could not infringe. Id. at 2-7. The motion
notes, for example, that there are at least three independent reasons why there is insufficient
evidence of contributory infringement. With respect to the relief sbught, Google expressly
requested that the Court "grant sunimary judgment to Google and dismiss the Amended
Complaint with prejudice.” Id. at. 16. The motion was supported by two declarations setting
forth the relevant facts concerning the Google Earth software.

Consistent with the Exigent decision, the relief requested by Google was sufficient to
encompass any theory of iﬁﬁingemeﬁt. For these reasons, the Court erred when it failed to

dismiss the Amended Complaint. F&G was obligated, in response to Google's motion, to create
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a genuine issue of fact as to whether direct inﬁ‘iﬁgemeht existed. F&G failed to do so in its
opposition and failed to establish that it needed discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the Federal
Rules éf Civil Procedure. See Order at 8 n.6; see Exigent, 442 F.3d at 1310-11 (affirming district
court's refusal to continue the motion for purposes of discovery, where defendant did not comply
with Rule 56(f)). Accordingly, the Court should grant Google's motion for reconsideration and
dismiss the Amended Complaint in its entirety. |

M. ALTERNATIVELY, GOOGLE SEEKS SUMMARY JUDGMENT
ON THE ISSUE OF DIRECT INFRINGEMENT

Alternatively, Google moves herein for summary judgment dismissing the Amended
Complaint on any theory, including the theory of diréct infringement. Google cannot, as a matter
of law, directly infringe claim 12 of the '229 patenfc by its distribution of softWare. Method
claims are not directly infringed by the sale or distribution of products. Direct infringement of a
method claim requires that the alleged inﬁ‘inge: perform every step of the method. See NIP,

Inc. v. Research in Motion, Ltd., 418 F.3d 1282, 1318 (Fed. Cir. 2005) ("It is well established
that a patenf for a method or process is not infringed unless all steps or stages of the claimed
process are utilized.") (quoting Roberts Dairy Co. v. United States, 208 Ct. Cl. 830, 530 F.2d
1342, 1354 (1976)). The Federal Circuit has made clear that a method claim 1s 'inﬁinged only by
practicing the method, not By the sale or distribution of software that, if used, would allegedly
perform the method: |

Congress has consistently expressed the view that it undersfands

infringement of method claims under Section 271(a) to be limited

to use. . . . [T]his court expressed a similar view in Joy

Technologies, Inc. v. Flakt, Inc., 6 F.3d 770 (Fed. Cir. 1993). In

that case, we said, 'a method claim is directly infringed only by one
practicing the patented method.' Id. at 775.
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NTP, 418 F3d at 1319 (holding as a matter of law that maker of Blackberry device did not
infringe method claims by sale of devices). This fundamental principle is sufficient, in itself, for
the grant of summary judgment. |

Further, the Court has already held that all the claims, including claim 12, involve the use
of a computer mouse. See Order at 3-6. In so holding, the Court relied on, arhong other things,
the claim charts prepared by F&G; The claim charts define each step in claim 12 as involving
the "use of a computer mouse." Order at 5. Google is not in the business of selling or
distributing computer mice. Accordingly, Google cannot have performed every step of the
method claim, and thus could not have directly infringed.

At best, the distribution of the software could give ﬁse to a claim for contributory
infringement. See Aquitex Indus., Inc. v. Techniche Solutions, 419 F.3d 1374, 1379 (Fed. Cir.
2005) ("Althoﬁgh not directly infringing, a party may still be liable for inducement or
contﬁbutory infringement of a method claim if it sells infringing devices to customers who use
them in a wéy that directly infringes the method claim."). The Court has élready held, however,
that Google's distribution of Google Earth software does not constitute contributory infringement
because, among other things, there are sﬁbstantial noninfringing uses for the Google Earth
software (e.g., the use with licensed scrolling mice). Accordingly, the Court should grant
summary judgment and dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice.

IV. THE COURT SHOULD ALSO AWARD GOOGLE ITS
' ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS

The Court should also award Google the attorneys' fees and costs it has incurred in this
case. As explained in Google's original motion for summary judgment, the arguments made by
plaintiff in this case are frivolous. There is no basis, under any infringement theory, for plaintiff

to assert that Google has infringed a patent relating to scrolling mice, when Google is not in the
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business of distributing or selling scrolling mice. In the hearing on Google's original motion for_ :
summary judgment, the Court indicated that it was "strongly inclined" to award such fees. See
Hearing Transcript at 71-72 ("I am strongly inclined-to grant the motion in its totality .. .. I

don't grant Rule 11 sanctions lightly. In fact, I hardly ever do that, but this is one caée where 1

am tempted to do s0.") (Al-Salam Decl., Exh. 1). |

After making its comments, the Court gave the parties an opportunity to resolve the issue
without further Court involvement. Id. Following;r the heéring, Google tried to resolve the issue
directly with Mr. Brufsky, but he refused to withdraw the claim. Accordingly, the Court then
granted partial summary judgment, but withheld its decision on sanctions because of the
remaining claim for direct infringement. See Order at 19.

Following the Order, Google attempted, again, to convince plaintiff to dismiss the case,
so that the parties could avoid having to litigate this issue before the Court. Google 6ffered to
waive its request for fees, and explained that there was no plausible basis for plaintiff to pursue a
claim of direct infringement. As explained in Mr. Al-Salam's declaration filed herewiﬁl,

Mr. Brufsky again refused to withdraw the case, asserting that the claims were directly infringed
by Google's distribution of Google Earth software.. In the hope of resolving the issue without
having to bring it to the Court's attention, the parties agreed to submit the question of whether
plaintiff was likely to prevail on its claim of direct infringement to a neutral evaluator, Patrick
Flinn, of the Alston & Bird firm in Atlanta. The parties submitted briefing to Mr. Flinn, and
M. Flinn concluded that, for the same reasons asserted by Google, plaintiff could not prevail on
any claim of direct infringement. He also opined that there was no further information or

discovery necessary to reach the conclusion. See Al-Salam Decl., 7 6.
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Nevertheless, following Mr. Flimi's conciusion, plaintiff and Mr. Brufsky refused to
dismiss the complaint and have demanded depositions of Google's personnel.

Plaintiff has demandéd such depositions on the issue of "claim construction,”" though the
details about Google's software cannot bear on the meaning of the patent claims. The language
of the patent claims, as well as the disclosure in the patent, controls the scope of a patent. See,
e.g., Phillips v. AWH Corp., 415 F.3d 1303, 1312 (Fed. Cir. 2005) ("It is a"becirock print:iple of
patent law that the clairﬁs of a patent define the invention to which the patentee is entitled the
right to exclude™). No discovery from Google will éhange the fact that the claims of the '229
patent 311 require a scrolling computer mouse or equivalent hardware. No discovery from
Google will change the fact that the requirement pf a scrolling mouse is reflected in F&G's own
claim charts. Perhaps most importantly, no discovery from Google will change the fact that the
Court has already held that "each step of claim 12 requires the use of a mouse that contains the
scrolling means described in the patent specification." Order at 11.

Despite these facts, plainﬁff continues to assert that the patent has no such requirement
and has moved to compel Google to produce witnesses to testify as to specific details concerning
Gobgle's products. Plaintiff's harassment of Google, based on a meritless assertion of a need for
discovery, should be stopped. F&G should be ordered to pay Google's reasonable attorneys' fees
and costs. As indicated in Mr. Al-Salam's declaration field herewith, Google has incurred, to
date, approximately $125,000 in connection with this litigation. Plaintiff and its counsel, not

Google, should be responsible for such fees.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Court should dismiss the Amended Complaint with

prejudice and award Google its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

Respectfully submitted this 7th day of June, FELDMAN GALE, P.A.
2007.
/s/ Christina DeAngelis
Christina D. DeAngelis (Fla Bar 664456)
One Biscayne Tower, 30® Floor
2 South Biscayne Blvd.
Miami, FL 33131
Tel: 305-358-5001
Fax: 305-358-3309

Ramsey M. Al-Salam, (Pro Hac Vice)
PERKINS COIE LLP

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4800
Seattle, WA 98101-3099

Telephone: 206.359.8000

Facsimile: 206.359.9000
ralsalam@perkinscoie.com

Attorneys for Defendant Google Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on July 7, 2007, I electronically filed the foregoing document
with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF. I also certify that the document listed above is being
served this day on Allen D. Brufsky, Esq., Allen Brufsky, P.A., 475 Galleon Drive, Naples,

| Florida 34102, via transmission of Notices of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECE.

s/ Christina DeAngelis
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